FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
7/27/2023 12:16 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/27/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 102223-9

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals No. 57312-1-II

ANTIO, LLC, AZUREA, LLC, BACK BOWL I, LLC, CANDICA, LLC, CERASTES-WTB, LLC, GCG EXCALIBUR, LLC, LINDIA, LLC, OAK HARBOR CAPITAL, LLC, OAK HARBOR CAPITAL II, LLC, OAK HARBOR CAPITAL III, LLC, OAK HARBOR CAPITAL IV, LLC, OAK HARBOR CAPITAL VI, LLC, OAK HARBOR CAPITAL VII, LLC, OAK HARBOR CAPITAL X, LLC, OAK HARBOR CAPITAL XI, LLC, and VANDA, LLC,

Petitioners,

V.

DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

II. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether, in light of the legislature's 2002 revision of RCW 82.04.4281, the Court of Appeals erred in limiting the availability of the "amounts derived from investments" deduction from the B&O tax base to only taxpayers in non-financial businesses who had income from the "incidental investment" of "surplus proceeds of the business?"

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioners are Washington-based investment funds, who receive money from investors in private offerings. Petitioners provide no services, and all of Petitioners' income is from the returns on their investments.

Petitioners initially paid B&O tax on their investment income, but in December of 2019 filed refund claims covering B&O tax they paid on their investment income for 2015–2018. The Department denied their claims.

Petitioners then filed a tax refund action in Thurston

County Superior Court. The Department moved for summary

judgment, arguing that Petitioners were not entitled to a refund

because the income at issue did not meet the definition of

"investments" set out in *O'Leary v. Dep't of Rev.*, 105 Wn.2d

679 (1986), which involved the prior version of RCW

82.04.4281.

Despite the legislature's overhaul of the statute in 2002,

the trial court applied rules developed by the judiciary with regard to the pre-2002 version of the statute and granted summary judgment in favor of the Department.

Petitioners appealed to Division II of the Court of Appeals, which upheld the trial court's determination in a published opinion on April 11, 2023. Petitioners' timely request for reconsideration was denied on June 27, 2023.

IV. REASONS TO ACCEPT REVIEW

One of the legislature's stated goals in revising RCW 82.04.4281 in 2002 was "to provide a positive environment for capital investment in this state * * *." House Bill 2641, § 1.

In making their investment decisions, investors, both inside and outside Washington, have relied on both the plain language of the statute, as well as the Department's representations on its website that "most mutual funds, private investment funds, family trusts, and other collective

investment vehicles * * * are allowed the B&O tax deduction for amounts derived from investments." CP at 160.

If not revised, the uncertainty engendered and the apparent new tax obligation required by the Court of Appeals' decision will play havoc with investments by Washington businesses, along with investments into Washington.

The magnitude of this issue cannot be overstated:

Washington received \$20.6 billion in private equity investment in 2022. *Top States & Districts in 2022*, Am. Invest. Council 5 (2023), https://www.investmentcouncil.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/03/Top-States-and-Districts-in-2022-Report.pdf. In both 2021 and 2022, more than \$8 billion in venture capital investments came into Washington. *2021*

¹ An investment fund located outside of Washington that meets the economic nexus standard would be required to pay B&O tax on its Washington investment income under the Court of Appeals' holding, which certainly may impact the decision to invest into the state.

Yearbook FINALFINAL.pdf.

The aggregate amount invested over the years in Washington by private investment funds, mutual funds, family trusts, and other collective investment vehicles is not easy to determine, but the amount is likely in the hundreds of billions of dollars. Similarly, Washington businesses have enormous investments outside the State. What is at stake is the taxability of the earnings on such investments, and in turn the efficiency of funding Washington's growth.

In reforming the investment income deduction, the legislature intended to make Washington a desirable location for the investment of capital, with predictable tax consequences.

The Court of Appeals' interpretation of "investments" is not only unsupported by the current statutory structure, but also is counter to the legislature's stated intent underlying its 2002 revision. The Court of Appeals' decision renders operation of the deduction substantively indistinguishable from its pre-2002 form, making Washington a less desirable location for investment. Such a dramatic change in the incidence of taxation is reserved to the province of the legislature, not the courts.

V. ARGUMENT

A. The History of the "Incidental Income" Formulation and the 2002 Statutory Revision

Prior to 2002, significant uncertainty existed regarding whether a given business could claim the "investment income" deduction, because the statute provided that the deduction was unavailable to "those engaging in banking, loan, security or *other financial businesses*." Laws of 1980, ch. 37, § 2, 1980 Wash. Laws 1, 84 (amended 2002; current version at RCW

82.04.4281) (emphasis added) (hereinafter "Former RCW 82.04.4281").²

By 2000, the phrase "other financial business" had become the subject of extensive litigation between taxpayers and the Department.³ In the wake of the uncertainty engendered by the statutory term "other financial business," the legislature determined to revise the statute to create bright line rules and generally remove most types of investment income from the ambit of the B&O tax.

The plain meaning of the current statute, which has been in place since 2002, generally allows the investment

² A copy of the statute as it existed prior to the 2002 amendment is attached at Appendix, Section A.

³ For example, in 2000, the Supreme Court ruled that a holding company that managed its subsidiaries' businesses could not deduct dividends it received from its subsidiaries, because the management of subsidiaries constituted an "other financial business." *Simpson Inv. Co. v. Dep't of Rev.*, 141 Wn.2d 139 (2000).

income deduction to businesses, only disallowing the deduction with respect to "amounts received from loans," as well as "amounts received by a banking, lending or security business." RCW 82.04.4281(2)(a) and (b). There are special definitions in the statute with respect to what constitutes a banking, lending, or security business, and there is no contention that Petitioners' investment businesses fall in any of those disfavored categories. A copy of the current version of RCW 82.04.4281 is attached at Appendix, Section B.

1. The Creation of the "Incidental Investments of Surplus Funds" Formulation Under Prior Law

In *John H. Sellen Constr. Co. v. Dep't of Rev.*, 87
Wn.2d 878 (1976), the taxpayers before the court were a
group of non-financial operating companies, each of which
had invested a small percentage of their annual gross
revenues. The Department argued that the various
investments of the taxpayers constituted "other financial

businesses" within the meaning of the pre-2002 version of RCW 82.04.4281. The *Sellen* court disagreed.

The *Sellen* court noted that the Department had a penchant to characterize virtually every investment activity on the part of a taxpayer as an "other financial business" for purposes of Former RCW 82.04.4281:

It is [the Department's] position that [taxpayers] are 'financial businesses' within the meaning of the deduction statute.

* * *

If we adopt [the Department's] interpretation of [Former RCW 82.04.4281] then few taxpayers, if any, making incidental investments of surplus funds could receive the deduction. [The Department] equates investing any income with being a financial business and, in effect, this renders the statute a nullity. By interpretation we should not nullify any portion of the statute.

87 Wn.2d at 882–83 (emphasis added and internal footnotes omitted).

To avoid nullifying a portion of the statute, the *Sellen* court formulated a limitation on deductible investments under

Former RCW 82.04.4281 to amounts derived from the "incidental investment of surplus funds." This was an effort to harmonize the general allowance of an investment income deduction with the disallowance of such deduction to "other financial businesses" contained elsewhere in the statute. In the *Sellen* court's view, not every investment of a non-financial business should amount to an "other financial business." Allowing non-financial businesses to make "incidental investments of surplus funds" was an interpretation that avoided "nullity" and gave effect to both parts of the statute.

A decade later, in *O'Leary v. Dep't of Rev.*, 105 Wn.2d 679 (1986), the Court applied Former RCW 82.04.4281 with respect to interest received on the sale of apartment complexes. In determining that this interest income was not deductible because it was connected with the taxpayer's

business investments (rather than constituting income from "incidental investments") the *O'Leary* court cited *Sellen*:

In *Sellen*, we allowed a deduction for income from a business' 'incidental investments' of surplus funds. *Sellen*, at 883. Whether an investment is "incidental" to the main purpose of a business is an appropriate means of distinguishing those investments whose income should be exempted from the B & O tax of [Former] RCW 82.04.4281.

Id. at 682.

Thus, the *O'Leary* court followed *Sellen* in recognizing a requirement for deductible investment income under Former RCW 82.04.4281 that only non-financial businesses could meet, i.e., "incidental investment of surplus proceeds."

Contrary to the opinion of the Court of Appeals in this case, the *O'Leary* court did not purport to define the term "investments." *See id.* Rather it only stated that, because the amounts at issue did not constitute the incidental investment of

surplus proceeds, the amounts did not qualify for deduction under Former RCW 82.04.4281.⁴

After *O'Leary* and *Sellen* were decided, the Department released Excise Tax Advisory 571, explaining the "incidental investments" test:

A two part inquiry is used to determine if the taxpayer is a "banking, loan, security, or other financial business." The first inquiry requires determining whether the primary purpose and objective of the taxpayer is to earn income through the utilization of significant cash outlays or whether these activities are merely "incidental" to the taxpayer's nonfinancial business activities.

-

⁴ After finding that the real estate contracts were neither "incidental investments" nor made from "surplus income," in an alternative ground for its holding, the *O'Leary* court also found that the taxpayer's seller-financed sale of its apartment buildings "was not an investment 'or the use of money as such." *Id.* at 682–83. It thus saw no need to determine if the taxpayer was engaged in a "financial business." *Id.* at 683.

Dep't of Rev. ETA 571.04.169 (June 30, 1995) (cancelled effective July 2, 2002) (hereinafter "ETA 571"). This ETA essentially rephrased the holdings in *Sellen* and *O'Leary*.

2. The 2002 Revision to RCW 82.04.4281

The current statutory scheme dates from 2002.

Approximately two years before RCW 82.04.4281's revision, the Court in *Simpson Inv. Co., v. Dep't of Rev.*, 141 Wn.2d 139 (2000), considered the case of a holding company that invested its subsidiaries' surplus funds. The *Simpson* court held that the holding company was ineligible for the deduction because it was an "other financial business" for purposes of the then-operative statutory text of Former RCW 82.04.4281. This decision provoked an almost immediate reaction from a wide spectrum of lawmakers.

In early 2001, the legislature passed House Bill 1361.

H.B. 1361, 57th Cong., Reg. Sess. (2001). Section 18 of the Bill expressed the desire for clearer and more certain rules

relating to the operation of RCW 82.04.4281 than those set out by the Court in its prior decisions.⁵

Section 20 of the Bill required the Department to report back to the fiscal committees concerning "the progress made in working with affected businesses on potential amendments to RCW 82.04.4281" to clarify the application of the statute to "other financial businesses."

Governor Locke approved the Bill on May 15, 2001, except for Section 19 (providing a standstill with respect to DOR audits), which he vetoed. In his statement explaining the partial veto, Governor Locke indicated he had directed the Department to set up a task force, including stakeholders, to develop a proposal for consideration by the legislature in

⁵ In section 18, the legislature referred to Supreme Court "decisions" in the plural, indicating dissatisfaction with more than the *Simpson* opinion alone. *See id*. (emphasis added).

2002. Gov. Gary Locke, *Veto Message on HB 1361* (May 15, 2001).

In early 2001, Senate Bill 6184, which contained many of the features ultimately incorporated in the 2002 revision to RCW 82.04.4281 (i.e., restricting the disallowance of the investment income deduction to a few specific categories of financial businesses) was introduced. S.B. 6184, 57th Cong., 1st Spec. Sess. (2001). The sponsoring Senators' explanation for the proposed change was as follows:

The legislature finds that a narrow interpretation of RCW 82.04.4281 is clearly not in the best interest of this state or its citizens. Therefore, it is the intent of this act to clarify the deductibility of investment income and to specifically identify persons who may not take the deduction provided in RCW 82.04.4281.

S.B. 6184, § 1 (emphasis added).

Not only did a DOR/stakeholder task force take up the project of revising RCW 82.04.4281 in late 2001, but the Washington Competitiveness Council also commented

favorably on pending legislation to revise RCW 82.04.4281, including the removal of the "other financial businesses" categorization:

The [proposed] legislation allows the deduction from B&O for income from investments by those not engaged in banking or lending activities. The proposal explains that the financial income that is subject to B&O tax is all otherwise nonexempt gross income of financial institutions, securities firms, lending businesses, from accounts receivable and of lending income for all businesses.

The proposed change will positively impact the competitiveness of the state by removing a disincentive to locating investment activities in Washington, will provide greater predictability for tax planning purposes, will allow flexibility for entrepreneurial businesses (available venture capital), and will have a positive impact on innovation and research and development.

Wash. Competitiveness Council, *Final Report*, § 2.2.2, *Recommendation 3: Clarification of Investment Income* 8 (2001) (emphasis added).

Ultimately, in early 2002, after receiving the report from the DOR/stakeholder task force, the legislature returned to the task of revising the scope of RCW 82.04.4281. House Bill 2641 was introduced in early 2002. Section 1 of the Bill provided the rationale underlying the amendment:

Sec. 1. The legislature finds that the application of the business and occupation tax deductions provided in RCW 82.04.4281 for investment income of persons deemed to be "other financial businesses" has been the subject of uncertainty, and therefore, disagreement and litigation between taxpayers and the state. The legislature further finds that the decision of the state supreme court in Simpson Investment Co. v. Department of Revenue could lead to a restrictive. narrow interpretation of deductibility of investment income for business and occupation tax purposes. As a result, the legislature directed the department of revenue to work with affected businesses to develop a revision of the statute that would provide certainty and stability for taxpayers and the state. The legislature intends, by adopting this recommended revision of the statute, to provide a positive environment for capital investment in this state, while continuing to treat similarly situated taxpayers fairly.

H.B. 2641, 57th Cong., Reg. Sess. (2002) (emphasis added);

See also S.B. 6384, 57th Cong., Reg. Sess. (2002) (containing identical language).

The drafters of S.B. 6384 summarized the effect of the bill as limiting the deduction disallowance to certain specifically identified financial businesses:

The term "other financial business" is no longer used for B&O tax purposes. *Instead, tax is specifically applied to* banking businesses, lending businesses, security business, loans or the extension of credit, revolving credit arrangements, installment sales, and the acceptance of payment over time for goods or services.

S. Comm. Ways & Means Rep., S.B. 6384 (Feb. 1, 2002) (emphasis added). Identical language is found in the House Finance Committee's Bill Analysis of H.B. 2641.

Under the 2002 revision of RCW 82.04.4281, which is the statute's current form, "amounts derived from investments" are deductible, except to the extent that such amounts constitute "amounts received from loans" or "amounts received by a banking, lending, or security

business." RCW 82.04.4281(1)(a), (2)(a), and (2)(b).

After RCW 82.04.4281 was amended by H.B. 2641, the Senate 2002 Supplemental Budget Summary described the statutory change as "eliminating" the B&O tax on the investment income of financial businesses, except for those businesses specifically identified in the statute:

HB 2641 INVESTMENT INCOME TAX DEDUCTION — \$3.62 MILLION GENERAL FUND REVENUE DECREASE

Eliminates the business and occupation taxation of investment income received by businesses that might be considered financial businesses, except for banking businesses, lending businesses, security business, loans or the extension of credit, revolving credit arrangements, installment sales, and the acceptance of payment over time for goods or services.

S. Comm. Ways & Means, Senate 2002 Supplemental Budget
Summary 40 (Mar. 5, 2002) (emphasis added).

Through its elimination of the "other financial business" category and the explicit listing of certain defined financial

businesses for whom the deduction would be unavailable, the legislature significantly narrowed the set of financial businesses not entitled to the investment income deduction under revised RCW 82.04.4281, i.e., only banking, lending, and securities businesses.

The legislative history makes it abundantly clear that those financial businesses who engage in investment activities not described in the statutory carve outs are permitted to take the deduction provided in RCW 82.04.4281 when calculating their B&O tax. Finally, not once did the legislature refer to the "incidental investment of surplus proceeds" as the test for deductible investment income.

3. The Department's Reaction to the 2002 Amendment

In its Fiscal Note, the Department recognized that the financial investment income of most taxpayers (except for the statutorily disfavored banks, lenders, and securities firms) was no longer subject to the B&O tax under the proposed statutory

change:

The proposal explains that *the financial income* that <u>is</u> subject to B&O tax is all otherwise non-exempt gross income of financial institutions, securities firms, and lending businesses; income from accounts receivable and lending income for all businesses.

Dep't of Rev., Fiscal Note for HB 2641 AMS S4691.2 (2002) (emphasis added).⁶

The Department also cancelled ETA 571, effective June 30, 2002. Dep't of Rev. ETA 3002.2009 (Feb. 2, 2009) (collecting cancelled interpretive statements).

In guidance placed on its website on June 2, 2017, the Department explained which financial businesses are eligible for the RCW 82.04.4281 deduction under the revised statute:

A trader not meeting the characteristics of a broker, dealer, or broker-dealer is not a security business and would be eligible for the B&O tax deduction for amounts derived from

25

⁶ In its Fiscal Note, the Department forecast a significant reduction in B&O revenue from \$10.6 to \$7 million (a 33% reduction) per year over a five-year period as a result of the change.

investments. Additionally, most mutual funds, private investment funds, family trusts, and other collective investment vehicles are not a securities business, and are allowed the B&O tax deduction for amounts derived from investments.

CP at 160.⁷

The Department's public announcement of the proper interpretation of the statute is entirely consistent with the statutory language and the legislative history.

B. The Court of Appeals Reached an Incorrect Result

1. The Court of Appeals Improperly Relied on the Obsolete Sellen/O'Leary Treatment of the Investment Income Deduction

The Court of Appeals' opinion failed to take into account the robust legislative history explaining that the statutory change was for the purpose of limiting the B&O taxation of investment income to certain defined sets of financial businesses and

is still available on the DOR website as of July 25, 2023.

⁷ This guidance, located at https://dor.wa.gov/forms-publications/publications-subject/tax-topics/investments,

activities, and "provide a positive environment for capital investment in [Washington]."

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