FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/24/2023 2:12 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 102223-9

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ANTIO, LLC; AZUREA I, LLC; BACK BOWL I, LLC; CANDICA, LLC; CERASTES-WTB, LLC; GCG EXCALIBUR, LLC; LINDIA, LLC; OAK HARBOR CAPITAL, LLC; OAK HARBOR CAPITAL II, LLC; OAK HARBOR CAPITAL III, LLC; OAK HARBOR CAPITAL IV, LLC; OAK HARBOR CAPITAL VI, LLC; OAK HARBOR CAPITAL X, LLC; OAK HARBOR CAPITAL X, LLC; OAK HARBOR CAPITAL XI, LLC; and VANDA, LLC,

Petitioners,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE,

Respondent.

DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

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

On appeal, the Court of Appeals ruled that Simpson was not a financial business and was permitted to deduct its incidental investment income. 92 Wn. App. at 923. This Court reversed, reasoning that Simpson's "primary purpose and objective" was to earn income "through the utilization of significant cash outlays" comparable to a bank, loan or security business. *Simpson Inv. Co.*, 141 Wn.2d at 153.

The taxpayer in *Simpson* had employed a common business structure whereby a parent "holding company"

provided cash management services to its subsidiaries. Within a few months after the decision was issued, the Legislature responded by directing the Department of Revenue to propose an amendment to RCW 82.04.4281 that would "clarify the application of [the statute] to other financial businesses." Laws of 2001, ch. 320, § 20 (emphasis added). Governor Locke followed up by directing the Department "to work closely with all affected parties to develop a suitable, constitutional proposal that can be considered by the legislature in 2002." Laws of 2001, ch. 320, partial veto message. Consistent with these directives, the Department formed a workgroup to study the issue and to propose legislation. See Final Legislative Report, 57th Wash. Leg., at 98 (Wash. 2002) (describing the background to the 2002 amendment to RCW 82.04.4281) (copy in the record at CP 389).

The proposed legislation adopted by the workgroup became House Bill 2641, an "ACT Relating to implementing the recommendations of the investment income tax deduction

task force" Laws of 2002, ch. 150. That legislation removed the reference to "other financial businesses," added definitions of the specific businesses that cannot claim the deduction (i.e., banking, lending, and security businesses), and extended the deduction to amounts derived from interest on loans between related entities so long as "the total investment and loan income is less than five percent of gross receipts of the business annually." Laws of 2002, ch. 150, § 2.

The Legislature also enacted findings that unmistakably explained that its intent was to override the holding in *Simpson* by removing the reference to "other financial businesses." Specifically, the Legislature found "that the application of the business and occupation tax deductions provided in RCW 82.04.4281 for investment income of persons deemed to be 'other financial businesses' has been the subject of uncertainty, and therefore, disagreement and litigation." *Id.*, § 1. The Legislature intended the 2002 amendment to "provide certainty and stability for taxpayers and the state." *Id.*

The legislative history pertaining to the 2002 amendment never mentions *Sellen*, never mentions *O'Leary*, and does not indicate any disagreement with the historical application of the deduction in general; only its past application to holding companies that fell within the excluded class of "other financial businesses." In short, the legislative history lends abundant support to the Court of Appeals' conclusion that the Legislature did not intended to nullify *O'Leary*.

Additionally, when the Legislature did amend the statute in 2002, it did not enact its own definition of "investments." Instead, that term remained in the statute completely unchanged, further reinforcing the presumption that the Legislature acquiesced to this Court's prior interpretation. *See McKinney v. State*, 134 Wn.2d 388, 403, 950 P.2d 461 (1998) (when the Legislature declines to provide its own definition of a term, there is a presumption that it is satisfied with the definition established by the courts); *Baker v. Leonard*, 120 Wn.2d 538, 545, 843 P.2d 1050 (1993) ("Legislative silence")

regarding the construed portion of [a] statute in a subsequent amendment creates a presumption of acquiescence in that construction.") (citation omitted).

If the Legislature truly intended to supersede *O'Leary*, there would be evidence of that intent somewhere in the legislative record. The evidence does not exist.³ And the Court of Appeals correctly rejected the LLCs effort to read that intent into the history of the 2002 amendment.

3. The Department's public guidance does not support the LLCs' effort to avoid B&O tax

The LLCs argue that their effort to avoid B&O tax on all of their gross income is supported by actions the Department took when it cancelled an out-of-date Excise Tax Advisory in 2002, and when it provided informal guidance about the deduction on its website in 2017. Pet. at 25-26. These related

³ The LLCs go so far as citing legislation that *did not pass out of committee*. Pet. at 19-20, 22, 29 (discussing S.B. 6184, 57th Leg., 1st Spec. Sess. (Wash. 2001) and S.B. 6384, 57th Leg., Reg. Sess. (Wash. 2002)). But even that inapt history does not support their claim that the 2002 legislation that did pass and became law secretly superseded *O'Leary*.

arguments fail. The LLCs misinterpret the Department's past and present guidance, which addressed (and addresses) the statutory carve-out for those businesses that may not claim the deduction, not the meaning of "investments."

As noted, the 2002 amendment to RCW 82.04.4281 removed the carve-out for "other financial businesses" and added definitions of the three types of businesses that may not claim the deduction; banks, lending businesses, and security businesses. Laws of 2002, ch. 150, § 2. The result is that taxpayers like Simpson Investment Company can claim the deduction to the extent they have income from investments. In response to the legislative change, the Department naturally cancelled its prior public guidance used to evaluate whether a business was an "other financial business." *See* Department Excise Tax Advisory (ETA) 3002.2009 at 14 (explaining that Department cancelled ETA 571 relating to the taxability of

investment income effective June 30, 2002). Cancelling that out-of-date guidance offers no support for the LLCs' extreme view that the 2002 legislation silently nullified *O'Leary*.

The same is true with respect to informal guidance currently provided on the Department's website. When read as a whole, the webpage provides taxpayers with general guidance about the deduction. For example, the first paragraph of the website—which the LLCs do not cite—explains that businesses must treat "investment related income" as gross income subject to B&O tax under the broad statutory definition of "gross income of the business." CP 398 (citing RCW 82.04.080). The website next explains that "[a] B&O tax deduction is provided for amounts derived from investments," and generally discusses the statutory exceptions for amounts received from loans, the extension of credit, revolving credit arrangements, etc. *Id*.

 $^{^4}$ Available online at $\underline{\text{https://taxpedia.dor.wa.gov/documents/historical\%20eta/3002\%}}\underline{2009-19.pdf}.$

(second paragraph). From there, the website provides details about businesses that may not claim the deduction. CP 398-400.

The portion of the webpage that the LLCs rely on is contained within the third subsection, entitled "Deduction not available for banking business, lending business, or security business." CP 398. That subsection describes the statutory exclusion of banking, lending, and security businesses. It then provides additional guidance with respect to security businesses, explaining that the term does not include a "trader" that buys and sells securities "for his or her own account," and listing factors that help distinguish traders from true security businesses. CP 398-99.

It is within the "security business" context that the webpage explains that private investment funds generally fall outside the definition of a security business. "A trader not meeting the characteristics of a broker, dealer, or broker-dealer is not a security business and would be eligible for the B&O tax deduction for amounts derived from investments. Additionally,

most ... private investment funds ... are not a securities business" and, therefore, "are allowed the B&O tax deduction for amounts derived from investments." CP 399.

The Department's webpage correctly explains the contours of the statutory exclusion of banking, lending, and security businesses. It does not address the definition of "investments" or this Court's construction of that term in *O'Leary*. Accordingly, the LLCs are wrong to argue the Department's litigating position in this case represents "a 180-degree departure from" the webpage. Pet. at 34. There is no inconsistency. The LLCs might fairly complain that the website should provide *additional* guidance. But their claim that the website supports the notion that certain businesses can avoid tax on all of their gross income is entirely incorrect.

As multiple cases have confirmed, informal guidance offered by the Department is not a substitute for the statutes enacted by the Legislature and construed by the courts. *See, e.g., Dynamic Resources, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 21 Wn.

App. 2d 814, 823, 508 P.3d 680 (2022) (applicable statutes and rules control over any inconsistencies in informal tax guidance). The Department also has been clear on this point. See https://dor.wa.gov/education/industry-guides (information in the Department tax guides "is general in nature and does not replace or substitute Washington rules or laws"). Simply because the particular webpage the LLCs cite does not address all aspects of the investment income deduction does not mean that taxpayers are free to ignore the plain language of the statute or court decisions interpreting and applying that statute. The Court of Appeals committed no error in concluding that the Department's webpage was "immaterial" to the resolution of the case. Antio, 527 P.3d at 171.

O'Leary is controlling with respect to the issue decided in this case—the meaning of income from investments. The Department's past and present guidance, when considered in context, does not support the "radical change" advocated by the LLCs. See Pet. at 29 (contending that the 2002 amendment

"effected a radical change in the taxation of investment income"). Rather, the Department's guidance is consistent with the Legislature's decision to remove "other financial businesses" from the statutory exclusion. Those "other financial businesses" can claim the deduction if they have incidental investment income, as discussed below in Part IV.A.5.

4. The LLCs offer no viable reason for this Court to replace the *O'Leary* definition of investments with some other definition

The LLCs contend that the deduction statute is not ambiguous and "compel[s] the result sought by Petitioners." Pet. at 29-30. To get to their proffered result (a 100% exemption from B&O tax), they contend that the meaning of investments as set out in *O'Leary* should be replaced with some other (presumably broader) definition. *Id.* at 31-32. But this Court has already defined the term, and lower courts have consistently followed this Court's definition, not just in this litigation but in other cases as well. *See*, *e.g.*, *Browning v. Dep't of Revenue*, 47 Wn. App. 55, 58-59, 733 P.2d 594 (1987)

(discussing *O'Leary* and applying its holding). More importantly, the Legislature has not acted to change the definition. The Court should decline the LLCs invitation to formulate a different definition of investments through litigation and, instead, rely on the Legislature to change the law if its sees fit.

5. The LLCs can claim the deduction if they have income from investments, such as interest from a money market account

The result of this appeal is not unfair or unjust in any way. The LLCs implicitly suggest that they would be unable to claim the investment income deduction because their main business activity involves selling securitized interests in distressed debt instruments, which they characterize as "investing" activity. But that supposition is not true. Like any

⁵ The Department has not reviewed the specifics of the LLCs' business activity. Instead, the Department has accepted the LLCs' characterization of that activity set out in their refund petitions. That activity does not fairly fall within the meaning of "investments" set out in *O'Leary*, and likely would not fairly meet some other definition of the term.

other business (other than banking, lending, and security businesses), these LLCs may claim the investment income deduction on amounts derived from the incidental investment of surplus funds. As one obvious example, the LLCs could deduct interest earned on a money market account. Depositing surplus income into a money market account would be incidental to their main business activity, and the income derived from that incidental investment activity would qualify for the deduction.

While the LLCs are entitled to the exact same tax treatment as other Washington businesses, the trial court and Court of Appeals correctly rejected their effort to completely avoid B&O tax on amounts derived from their main business activity. There is no legal or logical justification for granting these LLCs special tax treatment that other businesses cannot obtain.

B. The Court of Appeals' Decision Does Not Conflict with Any Decisions of This Court or the Court of Appeals, and Raises no Constitutional Issues

The decision below does not conflict with any decisions of this Court or the Court of Appeals. To the contrary, the Court of Appeals applied established precedent when it affirmed the trial court.

Further, the appeal does not raise any constitutional issue. The LLCs simply seek to rehash statutory claims that were properly rejected below. For this additional reason, review is not warranted.

C. The Decision Below Maintains the Status Quo and Involves No Issue of Substantial Public Interest

O'Leary has been the law for nearly 40 years. That case reasonably interpreted and applied the investment income deduction. The deduction is limited in nature. It is not (and never has been) a means to completely exempt in-state business activity from the B&O tax.

The LLCs, citing information that was not presented to the trial court during the summary judgment proceedings, claim

that following this Court's holding in *O'Leary* might adversely impact Washington's ability to attract investment capital. Pet. at 8-10. The argument fails on three levels.

First, the decision below preserves the status quo by applying established precedent. Income from "investments" has a defined meaning, and applying that established meaning to the material facts of this case advances the rule of law and "the evenhanded, predictable, and consistent development of legal principles." City of Federal Way, 167 Wn.2d at 347 (quoting Payne v. Tennessee, 501 U.S. 808, 827, 111 S. Ct. 2597, 115 L. Ed. 2d 720 (1991)). The LLCs' theory that O'Leary is no longer good law, on the other hand, would undermine the rule of law by presuming that the Legislature intended to override a longstanding, prior judicial decision sub silentio. Where, as here, there is no evidence that the Legislature intended to supersede a prior Supreme Court decision, that prior authority should be respected.

Second, the LLCs offer only their unsupported assumption that "private equity" and "venture capital" might be more difficult to obtain if this Court does not act. Pet. at 8-9. However, courts will not consider policy arguments that "rest on unsupported assumptions." *Cashmere Valley Bank v. Dep't of Revenue*, 181 Wn.2d 622, 640, 334 P.3d 1100 (2014). Thus, unsubstantiated claims about the "magnitude of [the] issue," Pet. at 8, is not a valid reason for this Court to accept review.

Finally, and most importantly, the LLCs' policy argument should be directed to the Legislature, not the courts. As this Court explained nearly 90 years ago, arguments about state tax policy "might with propriety be directed to the Legislature, but are not pertinent to judicial inquiry." *City of Tacoma v. Tax Comm'n*, 177 Wash. 604, 617, 33 P.2d 899 (1934). If the LLCs believe they have a meritorious policy argument for "nullifying" *O'Leary* and expanding the investment income deduction, they can make their case to the Legislature. The argument has no place here.

V. CONCLUSION

The LLCs meet none of the criteria for discretionary review in RAP 13.4(b). Accordingly, the Department respectfully requests that this Court deny review.

This document contains 4,716 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.